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DECISION


Maurice J. McIntosh is subject to discipline because he intentionally made a false statement on an application in a real estate transaction and pled guilty to fraud in a federal housing transaction.
Procedure


On December 13, 2007, the Missouri Real Estate Commission (“the MREC”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline McIntosh.  On April 4, 2008, McIntosh was served by personal service with a copy of the complaint, our notice of complaint/notice of hearing, a copy of our order of March 21, 2008, and our hearing notice of March 24, 2008.  McIntosh did not file an answer.

On July 1, 2008, the MREC filed a motion for summary determination.  Our Regulation 
1 CSR 15-3.440(3) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the MREC establishes facts that (a) McIntosh does not dispute and (b) entitle the MREC to a favorable 
decision.  By letter dated July 2, 2008, we gave McIntosh until July 25, 2008, to respond to the motion, but he did not respond.  The following facts, as established by the MREC, are undisputed.

Findings of Fact

1. McIntosh is licensed by the MREC as a salesperson.  McIntosh’s license was at all relevant times current and active.  On January 19, 2006, McIntosh’s license was placed on canceled status, and on September 30, 2006, it was placed on expired status.  McIntosh’s license remains on expired status.
2. On or about February 23, 2001, McIntosh executed a false loan application to purchase a property located at 6901 Claremore Drive, St. Louis, Missouri, 63121.  This loan was intended to be offered to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for insurance through the Federal Housing Administration program.  In his loan application, McIntosh intentionally gave a false social security number (“SSN”) by listing an employer identification number (“EIN”).
3. On October 6, 2004,
 McIntosh pled guilty to Count Eight of an April 29, 2004, federal indictment, which had charged him with a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1010.
4. Count Eight set forth the following allegation:

The Grand Jury further charges that:
On or about February 23, 2001, within the Eastern District of Missouri and elsewhere,
MAURICE MCINTOSH,
a defendant herein, for the purpose of obtaining a real estate loan with the intent that such loan be offered to or accepted for insurance by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development, did knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally make, pass, and utter a false and fraudulent material representation of fact in an application for a loan to purchase property located at 6901 Claremore, St. Louis, Missouri 63121, within the Eastern District of Missouri; to wit, on a Uniform Residential Loan Application MAURICE MCINTOSH provided a false Social Security Number.
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1010.
5. On January 7, 2005, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, Eastern Division, issued a final judgment on McIntosh’s guilty plea.  The court sentenced him to five years’ probation and assessed criminal monetary payments, including restitution.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  The MREC has the burden of proving that McIntosh has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.


Along with other evidence, the MREC offers the request for admissions that it served on McIntosh on May 2, 2008.   McIntosh did not respond to the request.  Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.
  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact, or “application of the facts to the law, or the truth of the ultimate issue, opinion or conclusion, so long as the opinion called for is not an abstract proposition of law.”
  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting pro se.
  Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.420(1) applies that rule to 
this case.  But Missouri precedent instructs that in cases under § 621.045, we must “separately and independently” determine whether such facts constitute cause for discipline.
  Therefore, we independently assess whether the facts admitted must be supported by other evidence and whether such facts allow discipline under the law cited.

The MREC argues that there is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2:

2.  The [MREC] may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by the provisions of chapter 621, RSMo, against any person or entity licensed under this chapter or any licensee who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her individual or entity license for any one or any combination of the following acts:

*   *   *
(2) Making substantial misrepresentations or false promises or suppression, concealment or omission of material facts in the conduct of his or her business or pursuing a flagrant and continued course of misrepresentation through agents, salespersons, advertising or otherwise in any transaction;

*   *   *
(15) Violation of, or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of sections 339.010 to 339.180 and sections 339.710 to 339.860, or of any lawful rule adopted pursuant to sections 339.010 to 339.180 and sections 339.710 to 339.860;
(16) Committing any act which would otherwise be grounds for the [MREC] to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040;

*   *   *
(18) Been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of this state or any other state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act 
of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

(19) Any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings, demonstrates bad faith or incompetence, misconduct, or gross negligence[.]
A person violates 18 U.S.C. § 1010 by committing any of the following acts:
Whoever, for the purpose of obtaining any loan or advance of credit from any person, partnership, association, or corporation with the intent that such loan or advance of credit shall be offered to or accepted by the Department of Housing and Urban Development for insurance, or for the purpose of obtaining any extension or renewal of any loan, advance of credit, or mortgage insured by such Department, or the acceptance, release, or substitution of any security on such a loan, advance of credit, or for the purpose of influencing in any way the action of such Department, makes, passes, utters, or publishes any statement, knowing the same to be false, or alters, forges, or counterfeits any instrument, paper, or document, or utters, publishes, or passes as true any instrument, paper, or document, knowing it to have been altered, forged, or counterfeited, or willfully overvalues any security, asset, or income, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than two years, or both.
I.  Subdivision (2) – Misrepresentation

Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.
  “Material” is “having real importance or great consequences[.]”
  On a uniform residential loan application, McIntosh misrepresented that an EIN was his SSN.  This was a substantial misrepresentation made in the conduct of his business.  There is cause to discipline McIntosh under § 339.100.2(2).
II.  Subdivision (15) – Violation of Law or Rule

The MREC’s complaint cites § 339.100.2(15), but cites no law or rule that was violated other than § 339.100.2 itself.  Section 339.100 is not a law that prohibits any conduct.  It cannot 
be violated, but instead sets forth the MREC’s authority to seek discipline or to refuse to issue a license under certain circumstances.  We find no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(15).

III. Subdivision (16) – Grounds to Refuse to Issue License

The MREC argues that McIntosh committed an act that would be grounds for the MREC to refuse to issue a license under § 339.040, which provides:
1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present, and corporations, associations, or partnerships whose officers, associates, or partners present, satisfactory proof to the [MREC] that they:

(1) Are persons of good moral character; and

(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and

(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.
We evaluate these separately.
A.  Good Moral Character


Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  When the MREC proves a criminal conviction, we determine the applicant’s moral character from his conduct, present reputation, evidence of any rehabilitation, and upon “a consideration and determination of the entire factual congeries.”


By failing to respond to the request for admissions, McIntosh admitted that he is not a person of good moral character.  Further, we make this determination on review of other evidence submitted in support of the motion for summary determination.  We agree that 
committing fraud in a real estate transaction demonstrates a lack of good moral character.  There is no evidence of McIntosh’s present reputation or rehabilitation.  There is cause for denial of a license because McIntosh lacks good moral character; thus, there is cause for discipline under 
§ 339.100.2(16).
B.  Reputation

Reputation means “the estimation in which one is generally held : the character commonly imputed to one as distinct from real or inherent character[,]”
  Reputation is not a person’s actions; it is “the general opinion . . . held of a person by those in the community in which such person resides[.]”
  Reputation is the “consensus view of many people[.]”


The MREC presented no evidence beyond the broad conclusion in the request for admissions as to McIntosh’s reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing.  There is no cause for discipline, as to reputation, under § 339.100.2(16).
C.  Incompetence

Incompetence is defined as “a general lack of professional ability, or a lack of disposition to use an otherwise sufficient professional ability.”
  The MREC argues that the commission of fraud in a real estate transaction demonstrates that McIntosh lacks competence to transact business.  We disagree.  To the contrary, isolated intentional fraudulent acts often demonstrate professional ability, but are insufficient to prove a lack of disposition to use it.  There is no cause for discipline, as to competence, under § 339.100.2(16).
IV.  Subdivision (18) – Guilty Plea

Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.


We agree that fraud is an essential element of 18 U.S.C. § 1010.  The offense involves not just making a false statement, but doing so to obtain something in return.  McIntosh is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(18).


We also agree that the criminal offense is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of a real estate salesperson.  The offense involves securing a loan, advance of credit or mortgage in a real estate transaction, which is directly related to the functions of the real estate business.
  Finally, the criminal offense is also a crime involving moral turpitude.
   There is cause to discipline McIntosh under § 339.100.2(18).
V.  Subdivision (19) – Other Conduct

The MREC argues that McIntosh is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(19) for “any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings or demonstrates bad faith or gross incompetence[.]”  The adjective “other” means “not the same : DIFFERENT, any [other] man would have done better[.]”
  Therefore, subdivision (19) refers to conduct different than referred to in the remaining subdivisions of the statute.


We have found that the conduct at issue is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(2), (16) and (18).  There is no “other” conduct.  Therefore, we find no cause for discipline under 
§ 339.100.2(19).
Summary


We conclude that McIntosh is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(2), (16), and (18).  He is not subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(15) or (19).  We cancel the hearing.

SO ORDERED on August 13, 2008.



________________________________



DOUGLAS M. OMMEN


Commissioner
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